

SANDS
MONTESSORI
PARENT
ORGANIZATION

BYLAWS

As adopted February 19, 2004

CONTENTS

COVER

CONTENTS	2
REVISIONS AND AMENDMENTS LOG	3
ARTICLE 1 Name of Organization	4
ARTICLE 2 Articles of Organization	4
ARTICLE 3 Purpose of the Organization	4
ARTICLE 4 Tax Exempt Status	4
ARTICLE 5 Basic Policies	5
ARTICLE 6 Membership	5
ARTICLE 7 The Rudder	6
ARTICLE 8 Officer Duties	7
ARTICLE 9 Officer Nominations	13
ARTICLE 10 Officer Elections and Terms	13
ARTICLE 11 Meetings	14
ARTICLE 12 Committees	14
ARTICLE 13 Parliamentary Authority	15
ARTICLE 14 Amendments & Revisions	15
ARTICLE 15 Notices	15
ARTICLE 16 Dissolution	15

SANDS MONTESSORI PARENT ORGANIZATION
REVISIONS AND AMENDMENTS LOG

DATE		EXECUTIVE SECRETARY'S SIGNATURE

1. NAME OF ORGANIZATION

1.1. Legal Name

1.1.1. For purposes of legal identification, the organization shall be named Sands Montessori School Foundation, Inc.

1.2. Common Name

1.2.1. The common name of the organization shall be Sands Montessori Parent Organization and shall be referred to herein as the SMPO.

2. ARTICLES OF ORGANIZATION

2.1. These bylaws of this organization shall be deemed to be its Articles of Organization.

3. PURPOSE OF THE ORGANIZATION

3.1. Work to achieve the mission of SMPO as developed and revised from time to time by SMPO.

4. TAX EXEMPT STATUS

4.1. The organization is organized exclusively for charitable and/or educational, purposes under section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code.

4.2. No part of the net earnings of the organization shall inure to the benefit of, or be distributable to its members, trustees, officers, or other private persons, except that the organization shall be authorized and empowered to pay reasonable compensation for services rendered and to make payments and distributions in furtherance of the purposes set forth in the purpose clause hereof. No substantial part of the activities of the organization shall be the carrying on of propaganda, or otherwise attempting to influence legislation, and the organization shall not participate in, or intervene in (including the publishing or distribution of statements) any political campaign on behalf of any candidate for public office. Notwithstanding any other provision of this document, the organization shall not carry on any activities not permitted to be carried on (a) by an organization exempt from federal income tax under section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, or corresponding section of any future federal tax code, or (b) by an organization, contributions to which are deductible under section 170(c)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code, or corresponding section of any future federal tax code.

4.3. Upon the dissolution of the organization, assets shall be distributed for one or more exempt purposes within the meaning of section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, or corresponding section of any future federal tax code, or shall be distributed to the federal government, or to a state or local government, for a public purpose.

5. BASIC POLICIES

- 5.1. The objective of the organization shall be promoted through various programs and activities, including (without limitation) committees, projects, and educational programs directed toward parents, teachers, and the general public.
- 5.2. The organization shall be non-commercial, non-sectarian, and non-partisan. It shall not endorse a commercial enterprise or political candidate. The name of the organization or the names of any members in their official capacities shall not be used in any connection with a commercial concern or with any partisan interest, or for any other purpose than the work of the organization.
- 5.3. The organization shall cooperate with the school to support the improvement of education in ways that will not interfere with administration of the school and shall not seek to control its policies.
- 5.4. The organization may cooperate with other organizations and agencies active in education or child welfare, such as conference groups or coordinating councils, provided its representatives make no commitments that bind the group they represent.

6. MEMBERSHIP

- 6.1. Any parent or legal guardian of a child enrolled at Sands Montessori School is eligible to be a member. As used in these Bylaws, "parent" shall include parents and legal guardians of children enrolled at Sands Montessori School.
- 6.2. Any Staff member of Sands Montessori School is eligible to be a member. As used herein, "staff" means all employees who work at Sands Montessori School, including (without limitation) administration, faculty, clerical and support workers
- 6.3. Anyone eligible to be a member may join the SMPO by attending a general SMPO meeting or otherwise indicating intent to be a member at any time. The term of membership shall continue until such member withdraws or is no longer eligible for membership. Any member may withdraw from membership at any time upon notice to the Executive Secretary. Withdrawal is automatic at such time as a person is no longer eligible for membership. There shall be no dues as a condition of membership.
- 6.4. Donations will be solicited from the members each school year (but not required) and accepted throughout the year.
- 6.5. All members shall be eligible to participate in general membership meetings. All parent members shall be eligible to serve in any of its elective or appointee positions (except for the Teacher Representative position which shall be filled by a teacher). The privilege of holding office, introducing motions, debating, and voting in general membership meetings shall be granted to all members.
- 6.6. All members shall be eligible to attend Rudder meetings and individual committee meetings. The privilege of introducing motions, debating, and voting in Rudder meetings shall be granted only to members of the Rudder.

7. THE RUDDER

- 7.1. The SMPO shall be led by a group of officers elected annually by the general membership from among the general membership. Collectively, this group shall be known as the Rudder.
- 7.2. The members of the incoming Rudder shall assume their official duties on July 1 of the year of their election.
- 7.3. The duties of the Rudder shall be:
 - 7.3.1. To define, pursue, and achieve objectives that further the purpose of the SMPO as established in Article 3 of these bylaws.
 - 7.3.2. To meet as necessary to transact business in the intervals between general membership meetings.
 - 7.3.3. To create committees and to appoint their chairpersons.
 - 7.3.4. To approve the work plans of the committees.
 - 7.3.5. To manage the expenditure of the SMPO's funds.
 - 7.3.5.1. Funds derived from donations and other sources shall be placed in a fund or funds, which may be expended to defray expenses of the SMPO, which have been approved by the SMPO. A budget shall be prepared and presented by the Rudder to the SMPO for approval not later than the November general membership meeting (except that this shall be the January general membership meeting for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2004).
 - 7.3.5.2. Regardless of the approved budget, the Rudder may execute the single-purpose expenditure of funds in excess of \$15,000 only with the majority consent of the members present at a general membership meeting, provided notice of the proposed expenditure shall be given at least 5 school days prior to the meeting.
 - 7.3.5.3. The Rudder must ensure that a minimum balance of \$7,000 is maintained for the start of the following year (commencing July 1st).
 - 7.3.6. To present a status report at each general membership meeting of the SMPO.
 - 7.3.7. To appoint an auditor or auditing committee by August 30 of each year to audit the Business Manager's report.
 - 7.3.8. To appoint one of its members to serve on the Nominating Committee by the January Rudder meeting each year.
- 7.4. The outgoing President of the SMPO shall be an ex-officio member of the Rudder. This member of the Rudder shall be known as the Past-President.
 - 7.4.1. The Past-President shall be eligible to serve simultaneously as an officer in any Rudder position except President. If the Past-President holds another office simultaneously, he/she shall nevertheless be restricted to voting only once on any motion before the Rudder.
 - 7.4.2. The duties of the Past-President shall be:
 - 7.4.2.1. To assist the Rudder during the transition of leadership responsibilities.
 - 7.4.2.2. To advise the Rudder based on past experience.

7.5. The LSDMC Liaison shall be an ex-officio member of the Rudder. The LSDMC Liaison is one of the four parents who serves on the Sands Montessori Local School Decision Making Committee (LSDMC). The LSDMC Liaison is elected by the four parents who are members of the LSDMC.

7.5.1. The duties of the LSDMC Liaison shall be:

7.5.1.1. To report to the Rudder the business of the LSDMC.

7.5.1.2. To report to the LSDMC the business of the SMPO.

8. OFFICER DUTIES

8.1. The officers of this organization shall be President, Vice-President, Executive Secretary, Corresponding Secretary, Business Manager, Teacher Representative, Reporter Publisher, Parent-At-Large, Resource Coordinator, 3-6 Team Coordinator, 6-9 Team Coordinator, 9-12 Team Coordinator, Volunteer Coordinator, Grant Writing Coordinator, Technology Coordinator, and Athletic Coordinator.

8.2. There shall be no hierarchical ranking among the officers and no order of succession except that the Vice-President will succeed the President if the Presidency is vacated. If the President and Vice-President are absent from any Rudder meeting, the Rudder members present at that meeting shall elect a temporary chair for the purpose of that meeting only. If the President and Vice-President are absent from any general SMPO meeting, the officer present at such meeting who is next listed in Section 8.1 shall call such meeting to order and preside over such meeting until the either the President and Vice-President shall arrive.

8.3. The duties of the SMPO officers shall be:

8.3.1. President:

8.3.1.1. Shall preside at all meetings of the SMPO and of the Rudder.

8.3.1.2. Shall establish the agenda and goals for the current year.

8.3.1.3. Shall represent the SMPO at school board meetings when deemed necessary by the Rudder.

8.3.1.4. Shall establish the Nominating Committee pursuant to Article 9, and select one of the members to serve as chair of such committee, not later than the January Rudder meeting.

8.3.1.5. Shall coordinate the work of the officers.

8.3.1.6. Shall coordinate the work of the committees.

8.3.1.7. Shall be an ex-officio member of all committees, but may not serve as chairperson of any committee.

8.3.1.8. Shall be authorized to sign checks drawn in the absence of the Business Manager.

8.3.1.9. Shall verify the Business Manager's records are satisfactorily audited by September 30 and all required IRS forms have been filed no later than October 30.

8.3.1.10. Shall attend as many SMPO events as possible.

- 8.3.1.11. Shall perform such other duties as may be prescribed in these bylaws or assigned by the SMPO or by the Rudder.
 - 8.3.1.12. Shall not be eligible to vote on any motions except as necessary to break a tie.
 - 8.3.1.13. Shall deliver to his/her successor all official material by July 1 at which time his/her term of office is completed.
 - 8.3.1.14. Shall assume the duties of Past President the following year.
- 8.3.2. Vice President:
- 8.3.2.1. Shall act as an aide to the President.
 - 8.3.2.2. Shall be considered "President-In-Training."
 - 8.3.2.3. Shall succeed the President if the Presidency is vacated (subject to Section 10.3).
 - 8.3.2.4. Shall perform the duties of the President in the absence or inability of that officer to serve.
 - 8.3.2.5. Shall be eligible to serve on any committee, but may not serve as chairperson of any committee.
 - 8.3.2.6. Shall attend as many SMPO events as possible.
 - 8.3.2.7. Shall act as parliamentarian.
 - 8.3.2.8. Shall perform such other duties as may be prescribed in these bylaws or assigned by the SMPO or by the Rudder.
 - 8.3.2.9. Shall deliver to his/her successor all official material by July 1 at which time his/her term of office is completed.
 - 8.3.2.10. Shall assume the duties of President the following year.
- 8.3.3. Executive Secretary:
- 8.3.3.1. Shall keep all the records of the SMPO (including committee reports) on file.
 - 8.3.3.2. Shall keep a current list of all SMPO officers.
 - 8.3.3.3. Shall record the minutes of all Rudder meetings, making the proposed minutes available to the President for review no later than 10 days following the meeting, and to the other Rudder members prior to the next Rudder meeting.
 - 8.3.3.4. Shall sign the approved minutes of all Rudder meetings and other certified acts of the SMPO.
 - 8.3.3.5. Shall maintain the official documents of the SMPO including the bylaws, correspondence, and minutes.
 - 8.3.3.6. Shall collect all inclusion from Rudder meetings to the school newsletter and serve as the SMPO's liaison to the school secretarial staff.
 - 8.3.3.7. Shall keep and bring to all Rudder meetings a current approved copy of the bylaws, a copy of the current edition of *Robert's Rules of Order Revised*, the Rudder minutes, and any other necessary records or supplies.

- 8.3.3.8. Shall be eligible to serve on any committee, but may not serve as chairperson of any committee.
 - 8.3.3.9. Shall attend as many SMPO events as possible.
 - 8.3.3.10. Shall perform such other duties as may be prescribed in these bylaws or assigned by the SMPO or by the Rudder.
 - 8.3.3.11. Shall deliver to his/her successors all official material by July 1 at which time his/her term of office is completed.
- 8.3.4. Corresponding Secretary:
- 8.3.4.1. Shall record the minutes of all general meetings of the SMPO, making the proposed minutes available for review no later than 10 days following the meeting.
 - 8.3.4.2. Shall sign the approved minutes of all general meetings and deliver them to the Executive Secretary for filing.
 - 8.3.4.3. Shall collect all inclusion from general meetings to the school newsletter.
 - 8.3.4.4. Shall keep and bring to all general SMPO meetings a current approved copy of the bylaws, a copy of the current edition of *Robert's Rules of Order Revised*, the general meeting minutes, and any other necessary records or supplies.
 - 8.3.4.5. Shall be eligible to serve on any committee, but may not serve as chairperson of any committee.
 - 8.3.4.6. Shall attend as many SMPO events as possible.
 - 8.3.4.7. Shall perform such other duties as may be prescribed in these bylaws or assigned by the SMPO or by the Rudder.
 - 8.3.4.8. Shall deliver to his/her successor all official material by July 1 at which time his/her term of office is completed.
- 8.3.5. Business Manager:
- 8.3.5.1. Shall receive all monies of the SMPO and serve as primary contact with the bank handling SMPO funds.
 - 8.3.5.2. Shall keep an accurate record of receipts and expenditures.
 - 8.3.5.3. Shall execute expenditures in accordance with the approved budget as authorized by the SMPO.
 - 8.3.5.4. Shall designate at least one SMPO member responsible for all cash exchanged at any SMPO sponsored event.
 - 8.3.5.5. Shall report at each general membership meeting.
 - 8.3.5.6. Shall submit all accounts to an independent auditor or auditing committee by August 30. The auditor(s), when satisfied that the Business Manager's accounts are correct, shall sign a statement of that fact.
 - 8.3.5.7. Shall file all required IRS forms by October 30.
 - 8.3.5.8. Shall file state corporate status filings as required
 - 8.3.5.9. Shall be eligible to serve on any committee, but may not serve as chairperson of any committee.

- 8.3.5.10. Shall attend as many SMPO events as possible.
- 8.3.5.11. Shall perform such other duties as may be prescribed in these bylaws or assigned by the SMPO or by the executive committee.
- 8.3.5.12. Shall deliver to his/her successor all official material by July 1 except for materials required for completion of the duties of this office which extend beyond such date, which he/she shall deliver to his/her successor no later than October 30.
- 8.3.6. Teacher Representative:
 - 8.3.6.1. Shall represent the interests of the faculty.
 - 8.3.6.2. Shall deliver to his/her successor all official material by July 1 at which time his/her term of office is completed.
- 8.3.7. *Reporter* Publisher:
 - 8.3.7.1. Shall coordinate and compile minutes, articles, and calendar information for publication in the *Reporter*.
 - 8.3.7.2. Shall distribute the *Reporter* each month from September through May, with a goal of distribution by the 5th but in no event later than the 10th day of the month.
 - 8.3.7.3. Shall deliver to his/her successor all official material by July 1 at which time his/her term of office is completed.
- 8.3.8. Parent-At-Large:
 - 8.3.8.1. Shall represent the general membership of the SMPO at Rudder meetings.
 - 8.3.8.2. Shall assume the duties of hospitality coordinator for any SMPO or school function including but not limited to the Kindergarten meet and greet session, the teacher luncheon (to be held the last day of school), and Grandparents Day.
 - 8.3.8.3. Shall deliver to his/her successor all official material by July 1 at which time his/her term of office is completed.
- 8.3.9. Resource Coordinator:
 - 8.3.9.1. Shall oversee fundraising events for the SMPO including but not limited to the fall carnival, spiritwear, holiday paper and candy sale, solicitation letter(s), and silent auction.
 - 8.3.9.2. Shall coordinate the activities of the event chairpersons.
 - 8.3.9.3. Shall submit income statements for each event to the business manager.
 - 8.3.9.4. Shall assist in the budget planning process.
 - 8.3.9.5. Shall deliver to his/her successor all official material by July 1 at which time his/her term of office is completed.
- 8.3.10.3-6 Team Coordinator:
 - 8.3.10.1. Shall meet with 3-6 team teachers on a regular basis to discuss needs and concerns including but not limited to Montessori materials and building and grounds issues.

- 8.3.10.2. Shall assist 3-6 room parents in developing phone trees and class directories.
- 8.3.10.3. Shall coordinate with the Vice-President and the other team representatives in developing a school-wide directory.
- 8.3.10.4. Shall assist the Parent-At-Large in his/her hospitality duties for any SMPO or school function including but not limited to the Kindergarten meet and greet session, the teacher luncheon (to be held the last day of school), and Grandparents Day.
- 8.3.10.5. Shall deliver to his/her successor all official material by July 1 at which time his/her term of office is completed.
- 8.3.11.6-9 Team Coordinator:
 - 8.3.11.1. Shall meet with 6-9 team teachers on a regular basis to discuss needs and concerns including but not limited to Montessori materials and building and grounds issues.
 - 8.3.11.2. Shall assist 6-9 room parents in developing phone trees and class directories.
 - 8.3.11.3. Shall coordinate with the Vice-President and the other team representatives in developing a school-wide directory.
 - 8.3.11.4. Shall assist the Parent-At-Large in his/her hospitality duties for any SMPO or school function including but not limited to the teacher luncheon (to be held the last day of school), and Grandparents Day.
 - 8.3.11.5. Shall deliver to his/her successor all official material by July 1 at which time his/her term of office is completed.
- 8.3.12.9-12 Team Coordinator:
 - 8.3.12.1. Shall meet with 9-12 team teachers on a regular basis to discuss needs and concerns including but not limited to Montessori materials and building and grounds issues.
 - 8.3.12.2. Shall assist 9-12 room parents in developing phone trees and class directories.
 - 8.3.12.3. Shall coordinate with the Vice-President and the other team representatives in developing a school-wide directory.
 - 8.3.12.4. Shall assist the Parent-At-Large in his/her hospitality duties for any SMPO or school function including but not limited to the sixth grade recognition event, the teacher luncheon (to be held the last day of school), and Grandparents Day.
 - 8.3.12.5. Shall deliver to his/her successor all official material by July 1 at which time his/her term of office is completed.
- 8.3.13. Volunteer Coordinator:
 - 8.3.13.1. Shall recruit and deploy a group or groups of parents to perform both scheduled and unscheduled volunteer duties at SMPO and school functions.
 - 8.3.13.2. Shall serve as the main contact person for volunteer requests from the school and SMPO committees.

- 8.3.13.3. Shall coordinate with the Parent-At-Large, the Team Coordinators, and the committees to ensure that requested volunteer positions are filled.
- 8.3.13.4. Shall deliver to his/her successor all official material by July 1 at which time his/her term of office is completed.
- 8.3.14. Grant Writing Coordinator
 - 8.3.14.1. Shall recruit and direct a committee to identify, research, and apply for educational grants.
 - 8.3.14.2. Shall coordinate with the committees to pursue grants that further the common goals of the SMPO.
 - 8.3.14.3. Shall be required to attend the free grant-writing seminar at the Public Library of Cincinnati and Hamilton County's main library (unless the Grant Writing Coordinator shall have adequate prior training and experience with grant writing).
 - 8.3.14.4. Shall maintain records with respect to the use, reporting and renewal requirements of all grants received.
 - 8.3.14.5. Shall deliver to his/her successor all official material by July 1 at which time his/her term of office is completed.
- 8.3.15. Technology Coordinator
 - 8.3.15.1. Shall monitor maintenance and upgrading of classroom computers.
 - 8.3.15.2. Shall recommend to the Rudder new hardware and software purchases as needed.
 - 8.3.15.3. Shall serve as the parent representative to the school's technology committee.
 - 8.3.15.4. Shall be responsible for school technology plan.
 - 8.3.15.5. Shall deliver to his/her successor all official material by July 1 at which time his/her term of office is completed.
- 8.3.16. Athletic Coordinator
 - 8.3.16.1. Shall coordinate sports programs at the school.
 - 8.3.16.2. Shall introduce new sports programs to the school if feasible.
 - 8.3.16.3. Shall pool resources and recruit volunteer coaches for the internal after-school programs.
 - 8.3.16.4. Shall oversee the management of the baseball and soccer coordinators.
 - 8.3.16.5. Shall coordinate the after-school sports programs with Cincinnati Recreation Commission,.
 - 8.3.16.6. Shall recommend to the Rudder the purchasing and maintaining of team uniforms.
 - 8.3.16.7. Shall deliver to his/her successor all official material by July 1 at which time his/her term of office is completed.

9. OFFICER NOMINATIONS

- 9.1. There shall be a nominating committee consisting of three members: one member shall be elected by the members of the Rudder from among the members of the Rudder, and the President shall appoint two remaining members from among the general membership.
- 9.2. No person shall serve on the nominating committee in two consecutive years.
- 9.3. The committee shall be established no later than the January Rudder meeting.
- 9.4. The nominating committee shall publicize the nominating procedures to the membership and shall accept nominations at the February general parent meeting.
- 9.5. The nominating committee shall solicit and receive all nominations from among the SMPO membership for persons to serve in officer positions.
- 9.6. Only those who have consented to serve shall be eligible for nomination.
- 9.7. The nominating committee shall accept nominations until 3 school days prior to the March Rudder meeting, after which nominations shall not be accepted.
- 9.8. The nominating committee shall submit all nominations, which shall include at least one nominee for each office, to the Rudder by the March Rudder meeting.
- 9.9. The Rudder shall publish the list of nominees to the general membership no later than the 3rd week of March.
- 9.10. Officer positions (except Teacher Representative) are open only to members who are parents. The Teacher Representative position is open only to members who are teachers.

10. OFFICER ELECTIONS AND TERMS

- 10.1. Officers for the next term shall be elected by a show of hands majority vote at the April meeting. The majority of votes cast constitute an election. If there is but one nominee for any office, the Executive Secretary shall cast the elective vote of the SMPO for the nominee.
- 10.2. Officers shall assume their official duties when all official materials have been transferred from the previous SMPO Rudder no later than July 1 of the current year, and serve until all official materials are passed to the next SMPO Rudder no later than July 1 of the following year. However, each outgoing officer shall serve as an advisor for his/her replacement for a period of thirty (30) days following expiration of his/her term to assist in a smooth transition of duties. In addition, the outgoing Business Manager shall remain responsible for completion of the duties described in Sections 8.3.5.6 and 8.3.5.7 with respect to the fiscal year ending during his/her term.
- 10.3. The Vice-President of the current year shall automatically become the President the following year, if such person was elected to the office of Vice President in the annual elections held the preceding April. If the Vice President attained such office through any other means, then the office of President for the following year shall be elected at the general SMPO meeting in April pursuant to Section 10.1.

- 10.4.A vacancy occurring in any office except President shall be filled for the remaining term by a member of the SMPO elected by a show of hands majority vote of the remaining members of the Rudder. After the election, official notice is to be given to the general membership in the next issue of the *Reporter*.
- 10.5.A vacancy occurring in the office of President shall be filled for the remaining term by the current Vice-President, who shall then serve his/her automatic term as President the following year (subject to Section 10.3).

11. MEETINGS

- 11.1.General membership meetings and Rudder meetings of this organization are open to all members and shall be held as determined by the Rudder.
- 11.1.1.The Rudder shall set and publicize the dates for the regular meetings of both the Rudder and the general membership not later than the 2nd week of school.
- 11.1.2. Repeat notices of regular meetings shall be posted at the school and publicized appropriately with not less than three school days notice for all Rudder meetings, and seven school days notice for all general membership meetings.
- 11.1.3. Emergency meetings may be called by the President, or (if the President is incapacitated) or by (if the President and the Vice-President are both incapacitated) the Vice-President or by any other Rudder member with not less than three school days notice for all Rudder meetings, and seven school days notice for all general membership meetings.
- 11.2.Absences:
- 11.2.1.An officer who misses 4 regularly scheduled Rudder meetings during his/her term of office for any reason whatsoever shall be dismissed and replaced as described in Article 10 of these bylaws.
- 11.2.2.An officer who misses 2 consecutive regularly scheduled Rudder meetings during his/her term of office for any reason whatsoever shall be dismissed and replaced as described in Article 10 of these bylaws.
- 11.3.Quorum:
- 11.3.1.Ten members shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business in any Rudder meeting.
- 11.3.2.Fifteen members shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business in any general SMPO meeting.

12. COMMITTEES

- 12.1.The Rudder may create committees as deemed necessary to promote the objectives and carry out the work of the SMPO. The President shall appoint a chairperson of each such committee.
- 12.2.Except for the Nominating Committee and Audit Committee, the chairperson of each committee shall recruit and coordinate committee members and shall present a plan of work to the Rudder, via the vice-president, for approval. No

committee work shall be undertaken and no public information including but not limited to advertisements, announcements, posters, and flyers, shall be distributed without the recorded consent of the Rudder.

12.3. The chairperson of each committee shall submit minutes of all committee meetings to the President.

12.4. The chairperson of each committee shall submit a progress report to the President not less than 3 school days before each regularly scheduled Rudder meeting.

12.5. The chairperson of each committee shall submit all records to the new Vice-President by July 1 of the current year.

13. PARLIAMENTARY AUTHORITY

13.1. The current edition of *Robert's Rules of Order Revised* shall govern this organization in all cases to which they are applicable and in which they are not in conflict with these bylaws. The Vice President shall act as the parliamentarian using *Robert's Rules of Order Revised* as established by these bylaws.

14. AMENDMENTS AND REVISIONS

14.1. These bylaws may be amended at any regular meeting of the SMPO by a two-thirds vote of the members present, provided notice of the proposed amendment shall be given at least 5 school days prior to the meeting.

14.2. A committee may be appointed to submit a revised set of bylaws (as a substitute for these bylaws in their entirety) only by a majority vote at a general meeting of the SMPO, or by a two-thirds vote of the Rudder.

15. NOTICES

15.1. All notices shall be given by inclusion in the latest issue of the *Reporter* provided such issue is delivered by at least the number of days required in these Bylaws for each specific event (including any matters for which notice is required under these Bylaws). If delivery of the next *Reporter* issue will not provide the required notice period for any event, then notices shall be sent in a written form to be distributed via students' backpacks and to mailboxes of each teacher and staff person. Additional methods of notice are encouraged.

16. DISSOLUTION

16.1. This organization may be dissolved by a two-thirds vote of the members present at a general membership meeting, provided notice of the proposed dissolution shall be given at least 14 school days prior to the meeting.

16.2. Upon dissolution of this organization, all outstanding bills shall be paid and the remaining assets shall be given to Sands Montessori School subject to Section 4.3 hereof.